




 

Page 1 of 6  

“ROUGH DRAFT – NOT YET APPROVED AND SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT UPON BOARD 
REVIEW” 

 

MINUTES OF THE   

THOMASVILLE BOARD OF PLANNING AND ADJUSTMENT  

MEETING – October 24, 2023   

 

The regularly scheduled August meeting of the Thomasville Board of Planning and 
Adjustment, was called to order at 5:30 P.M. with a quorum present.  

Members present:  Ms. Jane Hill, Chairperson; Mr. Carl Shatley, Vice-Chairperson; Mr. 
Brandon Byerly; Mr. Chris Myrick; Mrs. Judy Smith; Mrs. Pat Shelton; and Mr. Oran Jefferies.  

Members absent:  none 

Alternate member present:  Mr. Eric Kuppel  

The following staff members attended the meeting:  Mr. Chuck George, Planning Director; Ms. 
Tamara Lebow, Recording Secretary; and Mrs. Misti Whitman, City Attorney.   

City Council Liaison present: Mr. Doug Hunt  

Business taken up was as follows:   

1) Call to Order and Establishment of Quorum 

The meeting was called to order by Chairperson Hill, who declared a quorum to be present.    

2) Approval of Minutes of September 26, 2023 Meeting  

Upon a motion by Mr. Jefferies and a second by Mr. Shatley, the minutes of the September 26, 
2023 Regular Meeting, were unanimously approved.    

3) Variance Request (BOA-23-07) 
Applicant/Owner:  David E Smith & ET ALS 
Location:  509 E. Holly Hill Road 
Parcel Number:  16348C0000410 
Existing Zoning:  R-10 Low Density Residential 

                     Request to reduce the rear yard setback from 25 ft. to 19.5 ft.  
 



 

Page 2 of 6  

Chairperson Hill asked Mr. George to give the staff comments.  He stated the subject 
property is located in an R-10 Zoning, where the setbacks are: 25 from the rear, 35 feet from 
the front and 10 feet from the sides.  He advised there have been several calls by many 
Board members, with questions.  Chairperson Hill advised they needed have a swearing in, 
prior to his giving of any further information.  David Smith, Chuck George, and (later) Don 
Truell all came forward and to be sworn in by City Attorney, Misti Whitman.  Mr. George 
resumed with his staff comments.  He advised one of the biggest questions was how this got 
missed during the permit submission.  He explained the permit submission process in its 
entirety.  He further advised once the building permit has met all requirements during the 
review process, then most contractors hire a surveyor to come out and pin all points on the 
property.  Whereas, in this case, Mr. Smith pulled and pinned his own measurements.  Once 
pinned, someone is hired to pour the footings.  After both the footing and foundation 
inspections are completed, a surveyor must then complete a foundation survey to verify the 
setbacks were met.  The Planning & Zoning Director (Mr. George) received the survey for a 
Zoning/Setback review and sign off.  It was during this process the encroachment was 
discovered.  Mr. George contacted and informed Mr. Smith of the encroachment.  Mr. Smith 
advised Mr. George that he pulled the measurements himself, and had decided to move the 
house to avoid some trees on the property and he did not realize that he was too close to 
the property line.  Mr. George did advise Mr. Smith that he needed to bring the house out of 
the setback.  Mr. Smith asked and was advised the only way to move forward with the 
project would be to bring a request for a variance before the Board and it would be up to the 
Board to make the determination as to whether they will allow the variance.  Mr. George 
proceeded to address the questions by Board members.  Mr. Shatley asked if the owner and 
builder get a building permit before starting construction on the house.  The answer was yes, 
the builder did get a building permit before starting.  The next question asked was how the 
fact the house was out of compliance discovered.  Mr. George advised he requires a 
foundation survey for each new residential construction, which he included in their materials.  
It was then asked, if the builder has stopped working on the house.  The response to this 
question was the work was being continued on the portion of the house that is in compliance 
and the builder was further advised if he continued to work on the non-compliant portion, he 
may be required to remove that portion.  The next question asked was what happens if the 
variance request is not approved.  The answer was the general contractor would be required 
to remove the non-compliant portion of the house, out of the setback, before the issuance of 
a Certificate of Occupancy.  Another question asked was did the builder know that he was 
out of compliance before or after the job had begun.  He knew after the job had already 
begun.  Mr. George advised he was contacted by Mrs. Shelton, with questions concerning 
encroachment and why they’re continuing on with construction.  Mr. George advised he 
explained to her about the (fore-mentioned) process with the footings, foundation and the 
zoning survey.  He further explained that some of her questions were very similar to Mr. 
Shatley.  He stated Chairperson Hill also reached out to him, in regards to Mr. Worley, who 
lives at 511 East Holly Hill Road.  Mr. Worley thought the house was encroaching in the front 
yard.  Mr. George advised the area in question is technically the side yard setback.  He 
referenced the original Plat Map recorded in 2006 (he provided in the materials for Board 
members.)  The original Plat Map is what the setbacks were based on.   
 
Chairperson Hill asked if any Board members had questions for Mr. George.  Mrs. Shelton 
asked if the original plans met setback requirements.  Mr. George advised yes that is 
correct.  She also asked if he had stayed with the original plans would he have stayed in 
compliance (instead of changing the plans.)  That is also correct.  Mr. Shatley stated that Mr. 
George had previously outlined the steps for the process and he wanted to know if the 



 

Page 3 of 6  

altered dimension shouldn’t have been caught during the footing inspection.  Mr. George 
advised it is not for the inspectors to pay attention to where the footers and foundation are 
set.  Mr. George is responsible for the Zoning/Setback signoff, once he receives the 
Foundation Survey.  Mr. Jefferies asked what the purpose of a Footing inspection is.  Mr. 
George advised it is to make sure the footing is at the appropriate depth.  Mr. Shatley stated 
he feels it is a lot cheaper to catch it when they are scratching through the dirt than after the 
concrete is poured.  Mrs. Shelton stated it is a lot cheaper to hire a surveyor rather than 
pulling your own measurements also.  Chairperson Hill asked if there were any further 
questions for Mr. George.  There was none.   
 
Chairperson Hill asked if anyone would like to come forward to speak for the request.   
David Smith, general contractor, with a post office box in Thomasville, came forward to 
speak.  He stated he wants to request a continuance of the home.  He has been a 
respectable building for years.  When he laid the house off, he pulled the line from the end, 
and measured over to make sure he was okay.  There were two nice virgin trees there that 
he did not want to cut down, so he told the gentleman, that was helping him,  he wanted to 
move the house over a little bit, to miss those trees.  When he did, the corner was beyond 
the setback.  He stated if he made a mistake and did something wrong, he would ask that 
the Board please accept his statement of apology.  He said he would make sure to do better 
the next time.  He further stated the building inspector was very well pleased with the footing 
inspection.  He said he has a good working relationship with the inspectors and he wanted 
to commend the City of Thomasville for their inspectors and the job they are doing.  He 
stated there is only one property the issue would affect, which is the property behind the 
house he is building.  He said he talked to that gentleman and asked if it would be a 
problem.  He stated he was told no it would not be a problem.  He thanked the Board for 
their time.  Chairperson Hill asked the Board if there were any questions for Mr. Smith.  Mrs. 
Shelton asked if he already had footings dug and concrete poured by the time Mr. George 
notified him he was out of compliance.  He advised yes and he also had the foundation laid.  
He further stated he continued working on the garage-end of the house and the other parts 
not out of compliance.  Chairperson Hill referenced the trees he was trying to avoid from 
cutting.  She asked for clarification of the direction in which he moved the house.  He 
advised he moved the house to the left and not to the back.  He said he is not asking for a 
whole wall, just a corner of the house.  She further suggested he could have made the 
garage a little smaller to allow room for moving the house forward.  She stated he 
could/should have done so upon notification by Mr. George that he was out of compliance.  
He said he couldn’t at the time, because the garage floor had already been poured.  She 
asked if he had already framed everything except the corner in question.  He advised yes.   
 
Don Truell of 804 Leach Avenue (and property directly behind subject property) came 
forward to speak and was first sworn in by City Attorney Misti Whitman.  He stated he came 
to mostly listen because he is a firm believer in that if a man has got a piece of property, he 
should be able to do about want he wants to do with it, as long as he is within the limits of 
the Laws.  He advised Mr. Smith did come to see him.  He stated he understood Mr. Smith 
to say that he (Mr. Truell) said he was for it.  He further stated they didn’t even talk about 
that.  He advised Mr. Smith came to see him, on September 18th, at approximately six 
o’clock in the evening and gave him a card and told him he wanted to buy part of his side 
yard property.  Mr. Truell advised him he was not interested in selling any part of this 
property.  He added after their conversation, they continued to work on the house.  He said 
he has been in Thomasville for sixty some years and he realizes the Board has a job to do 
and in fact he used to work for the City.  He said his issue with the movement of the house 



 

Page 4 of 6  

is, he could throw a rock from his bedroom and hit the new house.  As well as the fact, the 
notification of encroachment did not stop Mr. Smith from building and he continued to work.  
He wants to know what the City of Thomasville could do as a penalty.  Mr. Jefferies advised, 
upon verification from City Attorney Whitman and Mr. George, by Law, the Board could 
require Mr. Smith to move the wall that is encroaching the setback.  Mr. Shatley advised the 
encroachment is only 5.5 feet.  He asked Mr. Truell if he is opposed to the house being left 
as-is.  He stated that he is opposed to it.  He said when it had been stated Mr. Smith had 
talked to him and said he (Mr. Truell) was ok with it, when in fact he did not, was wrong and 
he wanted to correct it.   
 
Mr. Jefferies asked Mr. Smith to come back to the mic.  He asked Mr. Smith what the width 
of the rear wall is.  Mr. Smith advised it is 50 feet across.  Mr. Jefferies asked what the size 
of the area in question is.  He advised the area is the dining room and a portion of the living 
room and is approximately 29 feet on that end of the house.  Chairperson Hill asked if the 
house has an open-floor plan.  He advised yes it does.                                  
 
Chairperson Hill asked if there were any other questions from the Board.  Seeing there were 
none, she asked for a motion.  Mr. Myrick had a question for the City attorney.  He wanted 
clarification if the variance does not pass, then what happens.  She stated if someone 
makes a motion to deny and the vote does not pass, then someone could make a motion to 
approve.  If the variance is not granted by the required 4/5 vote, the variance is denied.  Mr. 
Shatley asked if the variance is denied, could it be taken to court.  Attorney Whitman 
advised yes it could.  Mr. Shatley reiterated he feels the City should provide the builder a 
whole system of checks and balances and should be more thorough.  Mrs. Shelton stated 
she had same concerns until the she realized the builder was issued the permit to build, by 
the City, based on the original plans he submitted.  The builder decided to change the plans 
and he did not get a surveyor to pull the measurements, and instead did it himself.  She 
feels like that is where the responsibility should be placed on the builder.  Not to mention, 
the fact when he changed where he was going to place the house, he did not go back to the 
City to notate the changes.  Because of the unnoted changes, when the inspectors went out 
based on original plans.  Also when Mr. Truell spoke, as of 09/18/23 there was nothing done 
as far as building up, only foundation work had been done at that point.  Mr. Smith knew at 
that time, that he was out of compliance.  She feels as though the onus is not on the City, 
the onus is on the builder.  Mr. Shatley stated the bottom line is we have a builder that kept 
building on the house when he should have stopped when he was told to.  Mr.  Shelton 
asked Mr. George, if Mr. Smith has gotten building permits from the City before and if he has 
changed plans for any of those.  Mr. George advised he has pulled several building permits 
and this is the first issue the City has had with any of his projects.  Mr. Smith came back to 
the mic.  Mrs. Shelton asked him if he had ordered any trusses or done any building up, by 
the time he spoke to Mr. Truell on September 18th.  He advised that was incorrect, as he had 
the deck on, one wall standing and the trusses were on the jobsite.  She asked him if he had 
ordered everything before he knew he was not in compliance and advised that he had.  Mr. 
Jefferies asked Mr. Smith how long he has been a builder.  He has been a builder for over 
40 years.  Mrs. Shelton made a motion to deny the variance for the following reasons:  
based on the stated Findings of Fact, she moves that the Zoning Officer be upheld.  The 
hardship, of which the applicant complains, does not result from conditions that are peculiar 
to the property and unique circumstance related to the applicant’s property because there 
was nothing different about the property and it is big enough for the house to have been 
seated correctly.  The hardship is the result of the applicant’s own actions because he did 
not get a surveyor to find the correct property line until after he had already poured the 



 

Page 5 of 6  

foundation.  Also the house when the original permit was issued, was in compliance and 
when the builder changed the position of the house, which made it out of compliance.         
Mr. Shatley seconded the motion.  Chairperson Hill asked each Board member for their oral 
votes one-by-one.  Mrs. Shelton voted yes.  Mrs. Smith voted yes.  Mr. Jefferies abstained 
to vote (which equals a yes to the motion on the floor).  Mr. Myrick voted yes.  Mr. Shatley 
voted yes.  Mr. Byerly voted yes.  Chairperson Hill voted yes.  The Board vote was 7 – 0 in 
favor of denying the variance.  Chairperson Hill advised Mr. Smith his request has been 
denied.  Mr. Smith came back to the mic and asked for what he will need to do now, to bring 
the house into compliance.  Mr. Jefferies advised he will have to remove area that is 
encroaching the setback.         
    
 
         4)   Rezoning Request (Z-23-08) 

 Applicant:  Terry Lee Moore, II 
Owner:  Charles Thrift, Jr. 

 Location:  Johnsontown Road 
Parcel Number:  1633900000059 

 Existing Zoning:  R-10 Low Density Residential 
 Proposed Zoning:  C-1 Neighborhood Commercial 
  

Mr. George gave the staff comments.  He stated the property is a vacant property, which is 
approximately 3.13 acres and is located in an R-10 residential community.  The applicant is 
requesting to change the use for personal service for his construction business.  The 2035 
Land Use Comprehensive Plan encourages uses compatible with the existing development 
contiguous to the property.        

Chairperson Hill asked if anyone would like to come forward to speak for the request.  Terry 
Moore of Pilot School Road came forward to speak.  He stated this property is right around 
the corner from him and he would like to use it for storage of equipment and materials, and 
for parking dump trucks and skid steers.  He and his cousin are buying it contingent upon 
the rezoning.  If the rezoning request is denied, he advised they will look for another piece of 
property.  Chairperson Hill asked how large of a building they are looking to put there.  He 
stated they are not looking to add a building anytime soon.  He said they would just mainly 
like a place to storage equipment.  Mrs. Shelton asked if he was going to have an office 
onsite.  He stated no, the property would be strictly for storage.  Mr. Shatley asked about a 
fence around the property.  He stated he was planning on using or leaving the small trees at 
the road-front up as a buffer with a chain-link fence behind.   

Chairperson Hill asked if anyone would like to come forward to speak against the request. 

Donald Henderson of 1160 Johnsontown Road came forward to speak.  He stated his 
property is directly across from the subject property.  He and his mother invested in this 
property approximately ten years ago and started making improvements to the home, in 
order to leave it for his son when the time comes.  His mother passed away a little over a 
year ago.  He stated he has done what he could to help keep his property value up and to 
help maintain the look of the neighborhood.  He and surrounding neighbors are concerned 
with their property values.  He does not feel like this is a good thing for a neighborhood.  He 
feels like it should stay residential.      



 

Page 6 of 6  

Chairperson Hill asked if anyone else would like to come forward to speak against the 
request.  Seeing there was none, she asked for a motion.  There were multiple questions 
asked by several Board members to Mr. George, which were all for clarification on the C-1 
zoning.  Mrs. Shelton asked if, given the description of the zoning, and according to Mr. 
Moore not having an office there, he is offering any goods or services to the surrounding 
community.   Mr. George said that is correct, based on Mr. Moore’s testimony.  Mr. Shatley 
asked Mr. George if the Board is able to do a conditional use on the property.  Mr. George 
advised the Board would have to come back as a Conditional zoning with a Conditional use 
on the property.  Mr. Jefferies asked if Mr. Moore decides to place a building on the 
property, if he would need to come back before the Board.  Mr. George advised, by law, if 
the zoning were changed to a C-1, Mr. Moore would simply have to pull a building permit 
with the Inspections Department.  Mr. Shatley asked for clarification, if the Board approves 
the rezoning request and changes the property to a C-1, anything under the C-1 zoning 
could go on the property.  Mr. George advised that is correct.  Chairperson Hill asked if the 
Board was ready to make a motion.  Mr. Shatley made a motion to deny the request, for the 
following reasons; the proposed development is not appropriate for the property.  The 
residential character of the area must be maintained.  The area is not conducive to 
commercial development at this time.  Mrs. Shelton seconded the motion.  The Board vote 
was 6 (for the denial) and 1 (against the denial).  Chairperson Hill advised Mr. Moore the 
request is denied.  Mr. Shatley then asked Mr. George if Mr. Moore could appeal the 
decision.  Mr. George advised if the applicant chose to do so he could appeal to City Council 
by submitting the written request to him, within 10 days.       

 
        5)   Other Business 

 
Chairperson Hill there was other business to be discussed.  Mr. George said the December 
Planning Board meeting would fall the week of Christmas (he has confirmed Attorney 
Whitman’s availability) and would like to request to move the meeting to Tuesday, December 
19th, if the Board is not opposed.  Everyone agreed, for the changing of the date. 

 
         6) Adjournment 

Seeing there was no other business, Chairperson Hill asked for a motion to adjourn.  Mr. 
Jefferies made a motion for adjournment.  Mr. Myrick seconded the motion.  The vote was 
unanimous across the Board.   

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Chuck George, Director     Tamara Lebow, Recording Secretary 
Board of Planning and Adjustment   Board of Planning and Adjustment 
City of Thomasville      City of Thomasville  















































































































































































    Created: 2021-08-19 10:09:22 [EST] 

Section 2. Table of permitted uses. 

Districts in which particular uses are permitted as a use by right are indicated by "X." Districts in which particular uses are permitted as a use by right with certain conditions are 
indicated by "X" with a reference to a footnote to this table [see section 3].  Districts in which particular uses are prohibited are indicated by a blank. 

 

Permitted Uses  R-20  R-15  R-10  R-10M  R-8  R-6  O-I  C-1  C-2  C-3  C-4  M-1  M-2  Special  
Requirements  

Accessory building, including but not limited to fallout shelters, 
garages, guesthouses, toolsheds, swimming pools  

X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  See note 1.  

Agencies, including but not limited to travel, brokers, insurance, loan, 
employment  

      X  X  X  X  X  X  X   

Agricultural uses, nurseries, truck farms, greenhouses, etc.         X  X  X  X  X  X   
Antiques and gift retail sales         X  X  X  X     
Any industrial use not otherwise prohibited by law or by this 
ordinance which would not create a nuisance or a hazard  

            X  See notes 5  
and 7.  

Amusements, commercial, including but not limited to bowling alleys, 
roller skating rinks; not including drive-in theaters, commercial 
stables, roller coasters, carousels, fairgrounds, automobile racetracks, 
circuses or the like 

        X  X  X  X  X   

Appliance distributors for wholesale          X  X  X  X  X   
Arts and crafts supply and retail sales         X  X  X  X  X  X   
Assembling of electrical appliances, electronic instruments and 
devices, radios and phonographs, including electroplating; and the 
manufacturing of small parts only such as coils, capacitors, 
transformers, crystal holders and the like  

           X  X   

Athletic fields, recreational buildings, playgrounds, no commercial 
gain, no automobile or motorcycle racing  

X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X   

Auditoriums, indoor theaters, assembly halls          X  X  X  X  X   
Automobile accessories sales         X  X  X  X  X  X   
Automobile assembling, painting, upholstering, rebuilding, 
reconditioning, body and fender works, truck repairing or overhauling, 
tire retreading or recapping, and similar uses  

            X  See note 9.  

Automobile repair shops including body and fender work conducted 
within a completely enclosed building  

        X   X  X  X  See note 9.  

Automobile sales, new and used          X   X  X  X  See note 9.  
Automobile laundry         X  X  X  X  X  X   
Automobile parking lots serving uses permitted in district in which lot 
is located  

X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  See note 10.  

Automobile parking lots, serving uses in another district        X  X  X  X  X  X  X   
Automobile parking lots, commercial, may be for monetary gain        X  X  X  X  X  X  X   



    Created: 2021-08-19 10:09:22 [EST] 

Permitted Uses  R-20  R-15  R-10  R-10M  R-8  R-6  O-I  C-1  C-2  C-3  C-4  M-1  M-2  Special  
Requirements  

Automobile service station, not including outside storage of used, 
wrecked, inoperable or dismantled automobiles  

       X  X  X  X  X  X  See note 3.  

Bakeries selling at retail products produced on premises         X  X  X  X  X  X   
Banks, savings and loan and similar financial institutions        X  X  X  X  X  X  X   
Bed and breakfast inns  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  See note 21.  
Bicycle and motorbike sales and repair         X  X  X  X  X  X   
Blacksmith and horseshoeing shop             X  X   
Book and stationary stores         X  X  X  X  X  X   
Broadcasting studios, radio, TV         X  X  X  X  X  X   
Boardinghouse, rooming house      X  X  X  X  X       
Carpet, rug, bag [rag] cleaning establishments          X   X  X  X   
Catering establishments         X  X  X  X  X    
Cemetery or mausoleum  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X    X   See note 11.  
Churches, synagogues, temples, and other places of worship, 
rectories, Sunday schools  

X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X    

Cleaners and dyers         X  X  X  X  X  X  See note 4.  
Cleaners, self-service         X  X  X  X  X   See note 4.  
Clothing sales         X  X  X  X     
Clubs, lodges, community buildings, public or private nonprofit  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  See note 12.  
Coal, coke, wood lots             X  X   
Colleges, universities, including fraternity, sorority houses, 
dormitories, and incidental uses when on the same unit of property  

      X  X  X  X  X  X    

Compartmentalized storage for individual storage of residential and 
commercial goods  

        X    X  X   

Construction storage yards, lumberyards             X  X   
Correctional, penal institutions, jails            X  X  X   
Day care accessory use, child  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  See note 20.  
Day care, adult as a home occupation (for not more than five persons)    X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X   See note 2.  
Day care, child (small home)  X  X  X  X  X  X         See note 20.  
Day care, child (large home)     X  X  X  X        See note 20.  
Day care center, child        X  X  X  X   X  X  See note 20.  
Day care facility, adult, (for six or more persons)        X  X  X  X  X  X    
Drive-in restaurants         X  X  X  X  X  X   
Drive-in theaters              X   
Dwellings, single-family detached  X  X  X  X  X  X  X     X    See note 18.  
Dwellings, single-family attached, two-family, and multifamily 
including townhouses, patio homes and other styles  

    X  X  X     X    See notes 13  
and 18.  



    Created: 2021-08-19 10:09:22 [EST] 

Permitted Uses  R-20  R-15  R-10  R-10M  R-8  R-6  O-I  C-1  C-2  C-3  C-4  M-1  M-2  Special  
Requirements  

Dwellings for caretaker or domestic employee on premises where 
employed  

X  X  X  X  X  X  X        See note 14.  

Electrical shops          X  X  X  X  X   
Exhibition buildings, galleries or showrooms          X  X  X  X  X   
Facilities within a physician's or dentist's office building or within a 
convalescent home or hospital, not to exceed 50 percent of the 
ground floor area of such office or building, for the dispensing, and 
sale, on and within the premises, of prescription medicines and 
medical appliances customarily prescribed by licensed physicians and 
dentists and dispensed upon such prescription by licensed 
pharmacists under the laws of the state  

      X         

Family care home  X  X  X  X  X  X          
Fairgrounds, carousels, roller coaster, Ferris wheels, super slides and 
the like of a permanent nature  

        X    X  X   

Fences and walls  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X   
Flammable liquids or gases, bulk storage in quantities less than 
100,000 gallons  

        X    X  X   

Flea markets, open air sales not incidental to the operation of an 
otherwise permitted use, farmers' markets, antique fairs, craft fairs, 
used or new merchandise promotion  

        X  X   X  X   

Flower, plant sales, not enclosed         X  X  X  X  X  X   
Foundry casting, lightweight, nonferrous metal not causing noxious 
fumes, noise or odors  

           X  X   

Frozen food lockers          X    X  X   
Funeral homes        X   X   X  X  X   
Furniture, retail sales         X  X  X  X  X    
Golf courses, except par three or miniature courses  X  X  X  X  X  X       X  X   
Golf courses, par three or miniature courses          X    X  X   
Golf driving range          X    X  X   
Hardware and building materials sales         X  X  X  X  X  X  See note 1.  
Home occupations  X  X  X  X  X  X  X        See note 2.  
Hospitals, sanatoria, homes for aged, nursing homes        X  X  X   X     
Hotels, motels          X  X  X  X    
Junkyards              X  See note 15.  
Laboratories, experimental photo or motion picture, film or testing             X  X   
Laboratories, medical, research        X   X   X  X  X   
Laundries         X  X  X  X  X  X  See note 4.  
Laundries, self-service         X  X  X  X  X  X  See note 4.  
Lock and gunsmiths         X  X  X  X  X  X   



    Created: 2021-08-19 10:09:22 [EST] 

Permitted Uses  R-20  R-15  R-10  R-10M  R-8  R-6  O-I  C-1  C-2  C-3  C-4  M-1  M-2  Special  
Requirements  

Machine shop, excluding: punch press over 20 tons' rates [rated] 
capacity, drop hammers and automatic screw machines  

           X  X   

Manufacturing, compounding, assembling or treatment of articles or 
merchandise from the following previously prepared materials: bone, 
cellophane, canvas, cloth, cork, feathers, felt, fiber, fur, glass, hair, 
horn, leather, paper, plastics, precious or semiprecious metals or 
stones, shell, textiles, wood (excluding planning mills), tars and paint 
not employing a boiling process  

           X  X  See note 5.  

Manufacturing, compounding, processing, packaging or treatment of 
such products as baking goods, candy, cosmetics, dairy products, 
drugs, perfumes, pharmaceuticals, toilet soap, toiletries, and food 
products  

           X  X   

Manufacturing and maintenance of electric and neon signs, billboards 
and commercial advertising structures and light sheet metal products, 
including heating and ventilating ducts and equipment, cornices, 
eaves and the like  

           X  X   

Manufacturing of musical instruments, toys, novelties and rubber and 
metal stamps  

           X  X   

Manufacturing of pottery and figurines or similar ceramic products, 
using only previously pulverized clay and kilns fired only by electricity 
or gas  

           X  X   

Medical, dental, paramedical, chiropractor offices        X  X  X  X  X  X    
Metal shops involving fabrication of sheet metal only             X  X   
Mobile home parks     X           See note 16.  
Mobile homes, agricultural implements, heavy machinery sale, repair, 
rental or storage  

        X    X  X   

Monument works, stone works             X  X   
Motels, hotels          X  X  X  X    
Nightclubs          X  X  X  X    
Offices        X  X  X  X  X  X  X   
Orphanages and similar philanthropic institutions  X  X  X  X  X  X  X         
Outdoor Flea Markets/Open Air Sales          X  X   X  X   
Photographic developing, processing and finishing         X  X  X  X  X  X   
Physical culture establishments        X  X  X  X  X  X    
Planning or sawmills              X   
Pool halls, game rooms          X  X  X     
Public parks, recreational facilities  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X   
Public buildings, libraries, museums, art galleries and similar public 
nonprofit facilities  

X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X   



    Created: 2021-08-19 10:09:22 [EST] 

Permitted Uses  R-20  R-15  R-10  R-10M  R-8  R-6  O-I  C-1  C-2  C-3  C-4  M-1  M-2  Special  
Requirements  

Public utilities, static transformer stations, transmission lines and 
towers and telephone exchanges, not including service and storage  

X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  See note 17.  

Printing or binding shop          X   X  X  X   
Quarries or other extractive industries              X   
Repair and servicing of office and household equipment         X  X  X  X  X  X   
Restaurants, including all eating places except: drive-ins, nightclubs, 
clubs, lodges  

       X  X  X  X  X  X   

Retail business, but not car sales, not otherwise listed         X  X  X  X  X  X  See note 1.  
Schools (academic), kindergarten, elementary, secondary, public or 
private  

X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X   

Schools (nonacademic), commercial, vocational, public or private to 
include music and dance studios  

      X  X  X  X  X  X  X   

Service establishments, including but not limited to barbershops, 
small item repair shops, rental shops, custom fabrication, tailor shops, 
beauty parlors  

       X  X  X  X  X  X   

Sheet metal, roofing shops          X    X  X   
Shoe repair         X  X  X  X  X  X   
Signs  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  See article VI.  
Stables, commercial             X  X   
Storage, outdoor, not including junkyards or storage of petroleum 
products in quantities over 100,000 gallons, not otherwise listed 
herein  

        X    X  X  See note 6.  

Stores or shops, retail, but not automobile sales or repair and not 
otherwise listed herein  

       X  X  X  X  X  X   

Telephone exchanges, radio and television towers, cell towers          X  X  X  X  X   
Temporary buildings incidental to a construction project, a temporary 
permit for which has been issued concurrent with the permit for the 
permanent building(s) or construction  

X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X   

Temporary events, uses and structures including but not limited to: 
circuses, carnivals, fairs, rides, sideshows, open air exhibits, musicals, 
dramas, religious events, stage shows, art and craft shows, sales and 
displays, all of a nonpermanent nature, whether held in conjunction 
with permanent or temporary buildings, in the open air or any 
combination thereof  

       X  X  X  X  X  X  See note 8.  

Tobacco processing and storage             X  X   
Tourist homes        X  X        
Transportation terminals, freight          X    X  X   
Transportation terminals, passengers          X  X  X  X  X   



    Created: 2021-08-19 10:09:22 [EST] 

Permitted Uses  R-20  R-15  R-10  R-10M  R-8  R-6  O-I  C-1  C-2  C-3  C-4  M-1  M-2  Special  
Requirements  

Travel trailer parks          X  X  X  X    
Upholstery, paper hanging, and decorator shops          X  X  X  X    
Veterinary establishments          X  X  X  X  X   
Wholesale establishments          X  X  X  X  X   
Warehouses, sales or service          X    X  X   
Woodworking shops             X  X   

 
(Ord. of 11-18-96, § II; Ord. of 9-20-05, § 1; Ord. of 5-19-08, § 1; Ord. No. 11-30-ORD40, 11-30-09; Ord. No. 06-2015-ORD13, § 2, 6-15-15; Ord. No. 12-2017-ORD-21, 12-19-17) 




	ADPA038.tmp
	Section 2. Table of permitted uses.


